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HONORABLE JAMES L. ROBART 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON  
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

ANTHONY EDWIN PAUL,  

Defendant. 

NO. 2-19-cr-00194 JLR 

DEFENDANT ANTHONY PAUL’S 
ADDITIONAL BRIEFING RE ACTUAL 
LOSS AMOUNT AND THE ADMISSIBILITY 
OF THE DECLARATION OF ROBERT 
THRONSON 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

During Defendant Anthony Edwin Paul’s (“Mr. Paul”) November 29, 2021 hearing, and in 

the Minute Order of the same date (Dkt. 92) this Court directed counsel to submit additional 

briefing regarding the loss amount for purposes of a United States Sentencing Guidelines § 2B1.1 

sentence enhancement and the admissibility of the November 26, 2021 of Declaration of Robert 

Stuart Thronson (Dkt. 91), a former Department of Revenue (“DOR”) employee.  This 

memorandum is Mr. Paul’s response to the Court’s request.   In addition to this brief, defendant is 

also providing a First Declaration from Tiffany Couch (“1st Couch Decl.”), his forensic accountant 

and fraud examiner, to directly respond, a Second Declaration from Ms. Couch (2nd Couch Decl.”) 

to provide more detail, as well as a Declaration for David H. Smith (“Smith Decl.”) regarding 

discovery in this matter, in support.  
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II. LOSS AMOUNT 

A. Defendant Has Never Agreed to the Government’s Calculation of DOR’s 
Alleged Tax Loss. 

To this day, the parties have not agreed on a loss or restitution amount attributable to the 

“cash-for-checks scheme” alleged in Count 13, the charge to which Mr. Paul plead guilty.  Neither 

the Government nor DOR have completed an audit or similar forensic examination of TK Mac 

business records, compared them to TK Mac’s CETRs and analyzed the CETRs in the context of 

the data contained in the financial and Point of Sale systems for the Riverside Smoke Shop 

(“Riverside”) and D&A Smoke Shop (“D&A”) (collectively the “Smoke Shops”).  Such a detailed 

analysis was done by defense forensic accounting expert Tiffany R. Couch and resulted in her 

determination, an opinion held to a reasonable degree of professional certainty, that the 

Government’s loss calculations overstate DOR’s actual losses.  See, 1st Couch Decl. and 2nd 

Couch Decl.  Her opinion is based on the fact the Government’s loss calculations fail to consider 

the provable legitimate transactions between TK Mac and the Smoke Shops.  Id.  Although the 

Government has alluded since October of 2020, when plea negotiations for Mr. Paul first 

commenced, that the total tax loss caused by TK Mac could be as much as $10 Million, the loss 

attributable to the cash-for-checks scheme is at most $3,863,631.  Further, the Government’s novel 

theory that the $5,160,596.30 restitution payment already made should be applied on a pro-rata 

basis, leaving Mr. Paul with a $1,764,818.38 restitution obligation where he received none of the 

benefits of Kwon and Kim’s long running tax fraud scheme, is unsupported by case authority and 

contrary to the requirements of the relevant provisions of the Mandatory Victim’s Restitution Act, 

18 U.S.C. § 366A(c)(1)(A)(ii)   

B. Mr. Paul’s Plea Agreement 

Pursuant to his June 22, 2021 Plea Agreement, Mr. Paul plead guilty to Count 13 of the 

Indictment charging Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering between “January 1, 2013 and 

continuing until on or about April 26, 2017,” the so-called “cash-for-checks exchange” or the 
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second fraud scheme.  Dkt. 79.  His Plea Agreement also acknowledged that from no later than 

2009 through at least April 26, 2017, TK Mac purchased significant quantities of tobacco products 

and paid for most of these purchases with untaxed cash.  The Government describes this activity 

as TK Mac’s first fraud scheme.  Mr. Paul did not admit that he or anyone associated with the 

Smoke Shops was a knowing participant in this scheme.  At sentencing Mr. Paul intends to 

establish through the testimony of former D&A managers Jessica Tam and Rhiannon Ramos, that 

between 2009 through 2017 he was not involved in the transactions between TK Mac and D&A 

recorded in the “Tiger Ledger.”  Their testimony will further establish that no one at the Smoke 

Shops was aware that TK Mac was paying for its purchases using untaxed cash.  For these reasons 

Mr. Paul’s plea was limited to his authorization of Defendant Kai Silva, on one or two occasions 

in 2013, to participate in the separate cash-for-checks scheme, and his failure to take steps to stop 

these transactions over the following four years. 

As the Court observed during sentencing hearing, the Plea Agreement uses the name 

“Anthony Paul Silva” to describe the individual who suspected the cash-for-checks exchanges 

were part of an illegal money laundering operation.  To be clear, Mr. Paul denies he was this 

individual.  The Plea Agreement reserved for the Court’s determination the loss amount resulting 

from the offense as defined by USSG § 2B1.1(b)(1).  It further left for the Court’s determination 

the amount of restitution due the Washington State Department of Revenue based on the cash-for-

checks scheme. 

C. The Government Bears to Burden of Proving the Loss Amount. 

The Government bears the burden of proving intended loss by a preponderance of the 

evidence, although “a reasonable estimate of loss will suffice.” United States v. Egemonye, 62 

F.3d 425, 428–29 (1st Cir.1995) (citing USSG § 2F1.1 cmt. n. 8); United States v. Alli, 444 F.3d 

34, 38 (1st Cir. 2006).  The Government must also prove by a preponderance of the evidence the 

extent of the loss the conspiracy intended to cause.  Id., at 38.  USSC § 2B1.1, cmt. n. 3(A)(ii) 

defines intended loss as “the pecuniary harm that was intended to result from the offense, 
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[including] intended pecuniary harm that would have been impossible or unlikely to occur.”. 

“[D]eference is owed” to the loss determination of the district court, which “need only make a 

reasonable estimate of the loss,” because the district court “is in a unique position to assess the 

evidence and estimate the loss based on that evidence.” United States v. Sharapka, 526 F.3d 58, 61 

(1st Cir. 2008) (quoting U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1, cmt. n.3).   

“Conspiracy liability, as defined in Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640, 646-48, 66 

S.Ct. 1180, 90 L.Ed. 1489 (1946), is generally much broader than jointly undertaken criminal 

activity liability under § 1B1.3.” United States v. Soto-Piedra, 525 F.3d 527, 531 (7th Cir. 2008). 

By distinguishing his liability under conspiracy law from the determination of the loss amount for 

purposes of U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3, Mr. Paul is not trying to undermine his guilty plea.  Rather, he is 

pointing out that the scope of relevant conduct is “not necessarily the same as the scope of the 

entire conspiracy.” U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3, cmt. n. 2. “[I]n order to be held accountable for the conduct 

of others, that conduct must have been both in furtherance of the jointly undertaken criminal 

activity and reasonably foreseeable in connection with that criminal activity.” United States v. 

Edwards, 115 F.3d 1322, 1327 (7th Cir.1997); accord United States v. Laboy, 351 F.3d 578, 583 

(1st Cir.2003); United States v. Melton, 131 F.3d 1400, 1405 (10th Cir.1997); United States v. 

Otis, 107 F.3d 487, 491 (7th Cir.1997); McDuffy, 90 F.3d at 235.  Mr. Paul’s guilty plea 

establishes only that he conspired with Kwon and Kim to facilitate their cash-for-checks scheme, 

and the DOR tax loss attributable to this offense is at most $3,863,631.  The other tax losses 

caused by TK Mac, Kwon or Kim should not be considered. 

This is true because the actions of coconspirators that a particular defendant does not assist 

in or agree to promote are generally not within the scope of that defendant's jointly undertaken 

activity.  See U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3 cmt. n. 2 (illustration (c)(1)); United States v. Bustamante, 493 

F.3d 879, 887-88 (7th Cir.2007); Melton, 131 F.3d at 1405; United States v. Studley, 47 F.3d 569, 

576 (2d Cir.1995).  The Government has no evidence establishing that Kwon and Kim’s first fraud 
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scheme, which appears to have started as early as 2009, was within the scope of Mr. Paul’s 2013 

agreement to permit co-defendant Silva to exchange cash from TK Mac for checks. 

D. Consideration of Kwon and Kim’s Hearsay Statements in the Declarations of 
IRS Special Agent Lopez and DOR Employee Hartwell Would Deny Mr. Paul 
Due Process of Law 

In the recent Ninth Circuit Case, United States v. Franklin, 20-30136, 2021 WL 5458238 

(Ninth Circuit November 23, 2021), the Ninth Circuit held that if hearsay evidence was admitted 

during a defendant’s sentencing, the hearsay statement had to meet standards of minimal indicia of 

reliability which raises two distinct questions: (1) whether the statement is “procedurally reliable” 

and (2) whether the statement is “substantively reliable”.  This is a disjunctive test.  If the answer 

to either question is in the affirmative, then the statement may be considered at sentencing.  Here, 

Mr. Paul challenges the hearsay statements made in the November 18, 2021 Declaration of Jason 

Hartwell concerning his contact with IRS-CI Special Agent Joseph Lopez (Dkt. 84, see paragraphs 

12 and 18) and in the November 22, 2021 Declaration of Special Agent Lopez (Dkt. 85) as they 

are based on hearsay that fails to meet ether requirement of the minimal indicia of reliability 

doctrine.   

E. Application of the Minimal Indicia of Reliability Doctrine 

Courts in this District have long held that due process rights applied to a defendant at 

sentencing.  United States v. Weston, 448 F.2d 626 (Ninth Circuit 1971).  Weston stands for the 

proposition that if the sentencing process effectually puts the burden the defendant to refute a 

damaging hearsay allegation, particularly when the factual basis for believing such charges is 

practically non-existent, that process is legally flawed.  In United States v. Huckins, 53 F.3d 276 

(Ninth Circuit 1995) and United States v. Garcia-Sanchez, 189 F.3d 1143 (Ninth Circuit 1999), 

the Ninth Circuit overturned sentences imposed on “conclusory testimony” from the Case Agent at 

sentencing. 

Huckins and Garcia-Sanchez are particularly apt in this case as the latter were based on 

statements of accomplices whose statements were not made under oath, did not appear at trial or 
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sentencing where they could be cross-examined, and were made in the context of plea negotiations 

with the Government in which they made statements in an attempt to curry favor with law 

enforcement officials.  The effect of allowing statements of Kwon and Kim to be used to increase 

the sentence imposed on Mr. Paul effectively results in Mr. Paul being required to “prove a 

negative” in the face of the Government’s allegations.  Mr. Paul stopped being the manager of 

D&A Smoke Shop in approximately 2008.  At that point Anthony LaFontaine became D&A’s 

manager until he was replaced by Jessica Tam in March 2010.  In turn, Ms. Tam was replaced by 

Rhiannon Ramos as D&A’s manager from late 2014 through April 2017.  Based on the anticipated 

testimony of Ms. Tam and Ms. Ramos, Mr. Paul was not involved in the receipt of TK Mac’s cash 

payments on its account at D&A.  Mr. Paul will establish through the testimony of Ms. Couch, 

Ms. Ramos and Ms. Tam that the transactions recorded in the “TIGER” ledger reflects legitimate 

purchases TK Mac made at D&A and actual payments made on TK Mac’s credit account.  

Further, they will disprove the Government’s allegation that the Smoke Shops issued different 

types of invoices for payments made by cash or check.  This is because the Smoke Shops issued 

tickets for credit purchases, not actual invoices, an important distinction the Government appears 

to have ignored or not understood.  In any event, the evidence will show that Mr. Paul was not 

responsible for authorizing TK Mac’s credit account at D&A as this was likely done by Mr. 

LaFontaine when he was the shop’s manager.  During the time Ms. Tam was D&A’s manager, she 

dealt with Kim regarding TK Mac’s business relationship with D&A, not with Mr. Paul.  She was 

the one who arranged to have D&A’s substantial cash payments delivered directly to the Riverside 

Smoke Shop, managed by co-defendant Silva.  There is simply no credible evidence Mr. Paul was 

aware of, or participated in, Kwon and Kim’s original tax fraud scheme. 

III. RESTITUTION 

A corollary to the loss amount is a determination of restitution due DOR under the 

Mandatory Victim’s Restitution Act, 18 U.S.C. § 366A(c)(1)(A)(ii) (“MVRA”).  The amount of 

restitution that may be ordered under the MVRA is limited to the victim’s provable actual loss.  
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United States v. Hunter, 618 F.3d 1062, 1064 (9th Cir. 2010) (“The amount of restitution, 

therefore, ‘is limited to the victim's actual losses’.”) (quoting United States v. Bussell, 504 F.3d 

956, 964 (9th Cir.2007)); U.S. v. Chalupnick, 514 F.3d 748, 754 (8th Cir. 2008).  The District 

Court also cannot order restitution under the Act unless the victim’s harm was proximately caused 

by the offense or conviction.  United States v. Stone, 822 Fed. Appx. 624, 625 (9th Cir. 2020) 

(“restitution may be awarded only for losses for which the defendant's conduct was an actual and 

proximate cause.”) (emphasis in original) (quoting United States v. Swor, 728 F.3d 971, 974 (9th 

Cir. 2013)); U.S. v. Reitler, 446 F.3d 65, 135 (3nd Cir. 2006).  This requires the Government to 

show both that defendant’s conduct is the “but-for” cause of the victim’s harm and that defendant 

“proximately” caused the harm.  U.S. v. Stone, 822 Fed. Appx. At 625; U.S. v. Spearman, 594 

F.3d 1165, 1171 (10th Cir. 2010).   

As Mr. Paul’s crime of conviction involved a conspiracy, he can be ordered to pay 

restitution for all conduct that is part of the scheme.  U.S. v. Bright, 353 F.3d 1114, 1120 (9th Cir. 

2004).  This exception to the MVRA does not change the general rule that restitution may only be 

ordered for losses caused by the crime of conviction. United States v. May, 706 F.3d 1209, 1214 

(9th Cir. 2013) (“a court is authorized to order restitution ‘for the offense of conviction and not for 

other related offenses of which the defendant was not convicted.’”) (quoting United States v. 

Batson, 608 F.3d 630, 636 (9th Cir.2010)); U.S. v. Gordon, 480 F.3d 1205, 1210 (10th Cir. 2007).  

The MVRA also includes a complexity exception to the Act’s restitution requirement where the 

determination of complex issues of fact related to the cause or amount of the victim’s losses would 

complicate or prolong the sentencing process to a degree that the need to provide restitution to any 

victim is outweighed by the burden on the sentencing process.  United States v. Shabudin, 701 

Fed. Appx. 599, 603 (9th Cir. 2017) (the complexity exception permits a sentencing court to 

decline to award restitution to a victim of fraud “if the court finds, from facts on the record, that ... 

determining complex issues of fact related to the cause ... of the victim's losses would complicate 

or prolong the sentencing process to a degree that the need to provide restitution to any victim is 
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outweighed by the burden on the sentencing process.”) (quoting § 3663A(c)(3)(B)); U.S. v. 

Reifler, 446 F.3d 65, 136 (2nd Cir. 2006); In re W.R. Huff Asset Management Co., LLC, 409 F.3d 

555, 563-564, (2nd Cir. 2005) (the District Court did not abuse discretion by accepting provisions 

of a settlement agreement as a reasonable substitute for restitution. 

DOR has already received $5,160,596.30 as restitution pursuant to a global settlement 

agreement between Kwon, Kim, and the U.S. Attorney’s Office. Dkt. 83, p. 21; Dkt. 84, p. 3.  This 

payment was intended to cover all previously unpaid tobacco taxes “owed by TK Mac Enterprises, 

Inc. for the years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and January 2017 through April 2017.” Id.  DOR has not 

conducted an audit of this period (Dkt. 84, p. 3) and the Government’s restitution calculations are 

based on the unsubstantiated assumption that all of TK Mac’s tax credits were false (as the 2nd 

Couch Declaration establishes, a discernible percentage of TK Mac’s tax credits were based on 

legitimate transactions with the Smoke Shops; see, the 2nd Couch Decl. ¶ ¶ 31-37, 59, 71-79.) 

Yet, the Government’s theory, relying solely on the hearsay statements of Kwon and Kim, is that 

all claimed tax credits were false.  This blind reliance on statements made by Kwon and Kim is 

not permitted by the MVRA and would make a determination of the cause and amount of DOR’s 

losses so complicated it outweighs the need to provide additional restitution to DOR given the 

burden placed on Mr. Paul’s sentencing process. 

Further, there is no legal authority supporting the Government’s novel argument that the 

$5.1 restitution payment already made should be applied on a pro-rata basis between the two fraud 

schemes.  The Government agrees that at most the cash-for-check scheme Mr. Paul pled to 

resulted in at most $3,863,631 tax loss.  (Dkt. 94, see also Smith Decl. Ex. 1; 1st Couch Decl., p. 

3) Yet, despite DOR having received $5,160,596.30 in restitution already, the Government seeks a 

restitution order requiring Mr. Paul to pay an additional $1,764,818.38 (based on Special Agent 

Lopez’s calculations).  There is no legal authority supporting the Government “pro rata” theory 

and Defendant objects to this approach as a violation of MVRA’s requirements.  It would lead to a 

windfall to DOR that is unsupported by any reliable assessment of the tax loss actually caused by 
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the cash-for-checks scheme.  The parties agree the amount of any DOR tax loss associated with 

Mr. Paul’s crime of conviction does not exceed $4 million, and the defense believes the provable 

loss amount is only $2,741,825.   

Under these circumstances the Court may properly decline to issue a mandatory restitution 

order as DOR’s tax losses associated with the crime of conviction are both speculative and involve 

complex issues of fact that would complicate and prolong the sentencing process. 

IV. THRONSON DECLARATION 

A. The Ethics in Public Service Act, RCW 42.52.080, Does Not Preclude 
Mr. Thronson’ s Declaration testimony.  

The defense presented the Declaration of Robert Stuart Thronson (Dkt. 91) to aid the court 

in applying the minimal indicia of reliability standard to the hearsay statements made by Kwon 

and Kim through the declarations of Special Agent Lopez and Mr. Hartwell.  It was intended to 

point out the highly irregular way DOR issued a second tax assessment notice to DOR in 2021.  

During the November 30, 2021 sentencing hearing the Government orally objected to the Court’s 

consideration of the November 25, 2021 Declaration of Robert Stuart Thronson (Id.) contending 

the defense fact witness’ testimony was in violation of RCW 42.52.080(5).  That part of the statute 

states: “[n]o former state officer or state employee may at any time subsequent to his or her state 

employment assist another person, whether or not for compensation, in any transaction involving 

the state in which the former state officer or state employee at any time participated during state 

employment. This subsection shall not be construed to prohibit any employee or officer of a state 

employee organization from rendering assistance to state officers or state employees in the course 

of employee organization business.”  The Government’s objection is misplaced for at least two 

reasons. 
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B. Washington’s Conflicts Statute Allows Current and Former State Employees 
to Provide Testimony Under Oath, Regardless of Whether the Testimony 
Involves the Same Transaction in Which the Employee Participated.  

In Drewett v. Rainier Sch., 60 Wn. App. 728, 806 P.2d 1260 (1991), the Court of 

Appeals considered the application of a similar statute, RCW 42.52.060.  Interpreting the former 

version of that statute the Court held that a state psychiatrist employed at a state residential school 

for handicapped children could not be barred from testifying as a factual and expert witness in a 

civil action arising from an alleged sexual assault against a student, even if the psychiatrist's 

participation in counseling the student and in investigating the assault was substantial, stating:  
 
The State contends that Hageman participated in a transaction involving 
the State and Julia, and that he may, therefore, not assist Julia by 
providing expert testimony on her behalf.  Even if we agreed with the 
State that Hageman's participation in the transaction was substantial, the 
State does not prevail.  We reach that conclusion because of the 
provisions of RCW 42.18.180(2), which provides: ‘Nothing in this 
chapter shall prevent a state employee from giving testimony under oath 
or from making statements required to be made under penalty of perjury 
or contempt.’  Reading both RCW 42.18.170(1) and RCW 42.18.180(2), 
we hold that there is no testimonial privilege that may be asserted by the 
State when one of its employees is called upon to give ‘testimony under 
oath,’ even if the testimony relates to transactions in which the employee 
participated ‘personally and substantially.’ 

Id. at 731–32.  The Court also held that the ability of state employees to testify about transaction 

in which they were involved applied to both fact and expert witnesses:  
 

Indeed, the State concedes that Dr. Hageman cannot be prevented from 
giving testimony as to facts.  It argues that he may, however, be 
prevented from giving expert testimony.  We fail to see how the State 
reaches such a conclusion, in light of RCW 42.18.180, which expressly 
states that ‘nothing’ in the chapter ‘shall prevent an employee from 
giving testimony under oath.’ 

Id. at 732.  

The reasoning in Drewett, relying on essentially the same language in a former conflicts 

statute, should apply equally to this Court’s interpretation of RCW 42.52.060.  Although the 

language of section RCW 42.52.060 does not expressly mention former employees (only current 
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employees), there is no reason for allowing current State employees to testify in this proceeding 

but to bar a former employee like Mr. Thronson from testifying.  Clearly, the Washington court 

determined the intent of a similar statute was to encourage witness testimony in legal proceedings. 

The Court should also note that nothing in the actual language of RCW 42.52.080 contains a 

testimonial privilege.  Further, assuming for the sake of argument only such a privilege did exist, it 

could only be exercised by its holder - the State of Washington.  As of the date this pleading 

(including Dkt. 94) the State has not asserted a testimonial privilege and the United States lacks to 

standing to assert it on its behalf.  For these reasons this Court should find that RCW 42.52.080(5) 

does not contain a testimonial privilege which precludes Mr. Thronson’s declaration testimony.   

C. Mr. Thronson’s testimony does not relate to Same Transaction as Mr. 
Hartwell. 

At its core, Mr. Thronson’s testimony is a rebuttal to the declaration testimony of DOR 

employee Jason Hartwell. Dkt. 84 Mr. Hartwell’s declaration testimony relates to DOR’s issuance 

of a second audit billing letter on June 1, 2021 (Id.).  Mr. Thronson retired from DOR in 2019.  He 

was not involved in the transaction that resulted in the issuance of the June 1, 2021 second audit 

billing letter. Dkt. 91 He did not speak with Special Agent Lopez or consult with his former DOR 

colleagues regarding the priority of issuing a second audit billing letter.  

The term “transaction” is defined in RCW § 42.52.010 (21) and states: 
 

(a) Transaction involving the state means a proceeding, application, 
submission, request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, 
case, or other similar matter that the state officer, state employee, or 
former state officer or state employee in question believes, or has reason 
to believe: 

(i) Is, or will be, the subject of state action; or 

(ii) Is one to which the state is or will be a party; or 

(iii) Is one in which the state has a direct and substantial proprietary 
interest. 

(b) Transaction involving the state does not include the following: 
Preparation, consideration, or enactment of legislation, including 
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appropriation of moneys in a budget, or the performance of legislative 
duties by an officer or employee; or a claim, case, lawsuit, or similar 
matter if the officer or employee did not participate in the underlying 
transaction involving the state that is the basis for the claim, case, or 
lawsuit. 

To the extent Mr. Thronson was involved in activities in 2018 that could be considered a 

“transaction “for purposes of this statute, DOR’s second tax assessment was the result of a 

separate transaction that occurred in 2021, years after he retired.  For this reason, the 

Government’s objection to Mr. Thronson’s is unsupported. 
 

V. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons Defendant asks the Court to find the provable loss for purposes 

of USSC § 2B1.1 and 1B1.3 is $2,741,825.  Further, the Court should not order restitution as its 

determination would be based on complicated issues of fact related to the cause or amount of 

DOR’s losses which would complicate or prolong the sentencing process to a degree that the need 

to provide restitution.  Finally, the Court should consider Mr. Thronson’s declaration for purposes 

of applying the minimal indicia of reliability standard to the hearsay statements included in the 

Lopez and Hartwell declarations. 

DATED this 7th day of December, 2021. 
 

Respectfully, 

SUMMIT LAW GROUP, PLLC 

By: s/David H. Smith     
David H. Smith, WSBA #10721 
315 Fifth Avenue S., Suite 1000 
Seattle, WA 98104 
Tel: (206) 676-7070 
Email: davids@summitlaw.com   
 

Attorneys for Defendant Anthony Edwin Paul 
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